IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL O. CONAHAN, JR., :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No.SC00-170

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. :

____:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse

P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 25, 1997, the Charlotte County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, Daniel O. Conahan, Jr., for four offenses allegedly committed upon Richard Montgomery on April 16, 1997: Count I, first-degree premeditated murder; Count II, first-degree felony murder during the commission of or attempt to commit kidnapping; Count III, kidnapping with intent to commit or facilitate the commission of sexual battery; and Count IV, sexual battery. [V1 1-2]¹

On August 9, 1999, Conahan waived his right to a jury trial for the determination of his guilt, and the case proceeded to trial before Twentieth Circuit Judge William L. Blackwell. [V12 2249-50; V25 647-65] At the close of the state's case, the court granted defense counsel's motion for judgment of acquittal on Count IV, sexual battery. The court denied defense counsel's motion for judgment of acquittal on the other three counts. [V34 1849-74] Following closing arguments, the court found Conahan guilty of Count I, first-degree premeditated murder, and Count III, kidnapping. [V35 2016]

The court granted defense counsel's motion for change of venue to Collier County for the penalty phase jury trial, which was conducted on

¹ References to the record on appeal are designated by V and the volume number, followed by the page number(s). References to the appendix to this brief are designated by A and the page number.

November 1-3, 1999. [V13 2518-21; V15 2817; V37 2166] The jury recommended a death sentence by a unanimous vote. [V17 3235; V39 2646]

The court conducted a <u>Spencer</u>² hearing on November 5, 1999. [V39 2652] When defense counsel explained that there were several factual inaccuracies in the Presentence Investigation Report, the court said it had reviewed the PSI, but would not consider anything in the report in imposing sentence. [V17 3231; V39 2654-58] Montgomery's brother and mother read victim impact statements to the court. [V39 2659-68] Conahan told the court that he did not know or kill Montgomery, alleged misconduct by the police and prosecutor, and claimed an alibi for the collateral offense involving Burden. [V39 2669-81] Counsel for both parties provided the court with sentencing memoranda. [V17 3250-69; V39 2682-83]

On December 10, 1999, the court sentenced Conahan to death for Count I, first-degree premeditated murder, and to fifteen years in prison for Count III, kidnapping. [V18 3282-91, 3297-3303; V39 2685-97; A 1-5] The State nol prossed Count II, first-degree felony murder. [V18 3283] The sentencing guidelines provided a sentencing range of 48 to 80 months for kidnapping, but the court gave no written reason for a departure sentence. [V18 3293-96]

In support of the death sentence, the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) the murder was committed during the commission

Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688, 690-91 (Fla. 1993).

of a kidnapping; (2) the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP); and (3) the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC). [V18 3287-89; V39 2688-92; A 1-3] The court rejected the statutory mitigating circumstance that the victim was a participant in the defendant's conduct or consented to the act. 3 [V18 3289; V39 2692-93; A 3] The court found four nonstatutory mitigating circumstances by combining circumstances proposed by the defense: (1) Conahan was a loving son who displayed loyalty, affection, and service to his parents (some weight); (2) he worked to improve himself by enrolling in nursing school (some weight); (3) he had good, helpful relationships with his aunt Betty Wilson and the members of the Linde family (some weight); (4) he is hard working (little weight). [V18 3289-90; V39 2693-95; A 3-4] The court rejected the nonstatutory mitigating circumstance that Conahan had an open, unselfish, polite personality on the ground that he used these traits to his own purposes and to lure Montgomery to his fate. [V18 3290; V39 2695; A 4]

On December 17, 1999, the court granted defense counsel's motion to correct sentence and reduced the kidnapping sentence to 80 months.

[V17 3276-81; V18 3307] On January 7, 2000, defense counsel filed

Section 921.141(6)(c), Fla. Stat. (1995).

 $^{^4}$ These "nonstatutory" mitigating circumstances were considered pursuant to section 921.141(6)(h), Fla. Stat. (1995), so they are actually statutory circumstances.

Conahan's notice of appeal. [V18 3333] This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

THE GUILT PHASE TRIAL

The State's Case

On April 17, 1996, two Charlotte County engineers discovered a human skull, later identified as Kenneth Smith, in a remote wooded area used as a dumping ground. They notified two sheriff's deputies. [V26 750-77, 794-97, 802, 832-33; V30 1358] Officers who responded to the scene searched the area and discovered the body of Richard Montgomery covered with a piece of discarded carpet padding. [V26 787-92, 797-99, 803-04, 808-09, 847-53]

A police dog trained to detect human scents alerted to a 10 foot sable palm tree which appeared to be flattened on one side. [V26 817-22] Investigators collected Smith's torso and body parts, wrapping them in sheets, from which fibers were later collected. [V26 834-46; V27 874-75; V30 1356-57, 1361, 1367, 1370; V31 1384, 1390-91, 1394, 1397-1400] They collected a piece of rope lying on top of some carpet pad in a trash pile, [V26 853-860, 901; V31 1389, 1410] the carpet pad from Montgomery's body, [V27 872, 901; V31 1388, 1394] the sheet used to transport Montgomery's body to the morgue, [V27 872-73; V31 1389, 1395-96] combings from Montgomery's arms, hands, arm pits, chest, abdomen, pubic area, thighs, and legs, [V27 875-76, 899-900; V31 1391-92, 1404-05] fibers found on Montgomery's head, [V27, 876, 895] fibers found on Montgomery's right hand, [V27 898] known pubic and head hairs

from Montgomery, [V27 899] fibers found on Smith's skull, [V27 877; V31 1391-92, 1402-04] known hairs from Smith's skull, [V27 899-900, 903-04; V31 1391-92, 1405] fiber from lumbar spine, hair sample from Smith's body, [V27 900] and a gray coat found in the water at the scene. [V27 880-81, 890; V30 1347-53; V31 1391, 1400-01]

Dr. R. H. Imami, the District 22 Medical Examiner, examined Montgomery's body at the scene and performed the autopsy. [V27 907-15] The body was a nude white male, about 21 years old, 5 feet 10 inches tall, weighing 138 pounds, with slightly long brown hair, blue eyes, normal body hair, no facial hair, a flat abdomen, and average body fat. [V27 914-18] There were two ligature marks on the neck, 1/4 inch grooves in the skin caused by rope. [V 921-24, 939] Hemorrhage within the underlying tissue showed that these neck injuries occurred before death. Internal examination of the lungs revealed additional evidence of death by asphyxiation. [V27 937] Dr. Imami concluded that the cause of death was asphyxiation secondary to strangulation. [V27 939]

Additional injuries included a small scrape on the left side of the face. [V27 919] There were two 1/4 inch grooves on the lower chest and sides, but not on the back, which could be consistent with being tied to a tree or post. [V27 923-25] These were antemortem (before death) injuries. [V27 938-39] There were two grooves on the abdomen. [V27 925] There were crisscrossed skin abrasions on the lower back, which Dr. Imami believed to be postmortem (after death)

injuries, but they could have been made at the time of death. [V27 926-27] These scrapes could have been caused by the body moving against a tree or post. [V27 928] There were three scratches on the lower chest. [V27 928-29] There were crisscross scratches on the upper back and the left buttock. [V27 929-31] There were abrasions on the right hand, and ligature marks on the wrists and lower legs. [V27 933-34] The external genitalia had been cut off with a sharp knife after death. [V27 934-36, 938] The anus was dilated one inch more than normal, which was consistent with a sexual assault. [V27 936] However, Dr. Imami did not think there had been recent anal intercourse. [V27 946-47] There was no recent physical trauma to the rectal opening. [V27 944-45, 947] No sperm were found in the rectal area, nor in the mouth. [V27 945] There is some dilation of the sphincter in any postmortem case, and dilation could also be caused by constipation or the frequent insertion of objects. [V27 943-45] Matthews had a slightly elevated blood alcohol level of .06 at the time of the autopsy. [V27 942] Officers collected a white towel that had been placed over Montgomery's face when the body was transported, the sheets used to wrap the body, [V30 1368-39; V31 1392, 1409] and two vials of Montgomery's blood. [V31 1413]

Mary West was a nurse and Richard Montgomery's mother. Montgomery lived with his sister Carla and her husband Jeff in April, 1996. Before that, he had lived with West, her father, and her other son

Danny; he also lived in his own apartment or trailer for awhile, and with Mr. Whittaker. [V28 1097, 1103-05] Montgomery was 21 years old; he was born on March 6, 1975, in Willard Ohio. [V28 1098, 1102] He was almost six feet tall and weighed between 150 and 160 pounds; he was muscular, wiry, and thin. [V28 1098] Montgomery had a fair complexion, a suntan, and little body hair; he was trying to grow a mustache. He had a problem being employed and had quit a job with a roofing company. [V28 1099] He was fired from other jobs for partying and missing work. He was arrested as a juvenile. [V28 1101] struggled with school work. [V28 1099-1100] He was emotionally handicapped and had been in and out of therapy. He was often truant from school and quit when he was 18 without receiving a high school diploma. [V28 1100] He had trouble with alcohol and smoked marijuana. [V28 1100-01] Montgomery told West on January 6, 1993, that he had been sexually abused. At other times he denied it. [V28 1101] His only substantial possessions were a gold necklace and a stereo. He had a happy-go-lucky attitude. West bought him a truck, but she took it away because he had numerous speeding tickets. [V28 1102] Montgomery got around by riding his bicycle or by getting rides with friends. He was a trusting person after drinking alcohol. [V28 1103] Whittaker came to Montgomery's funeral and appeared to be emotionally upset. [V28 1107-09] Montgomery had told West he did not like the way Whittaker stared at him, he felt uncomfortable. [V28 1109]

West never met Conahan. [V28 1105] The last time West saw Montgomery, on March 23, he told her he had a new friend named Conahan, who lived in Punta Gorda Isles, had been in the Navy, was a nurse at a medical center where West had worked, and was much older than Montgomery. [V28 1106, 1109-10] In the same conversation, Montgomery said someone had offered him \$200.00 to pose for nude pictures, but he refused to tell her who. She told him that a person with a psychopathic personality would lure out someone like him, who is trusting and naive, and sexually abuse and kill him. Conahan interrupted West's testimony and accused her of being a liar. [V28 1110] West said her son did not believe her; he said no one would kill him, he would kill them first. [V28 1111] West thought she told the police about the conversation about Conahan in her statement on April 18, 1996, but a transcript indicated that part of her statement was inaudible. [V28 1106-07, 1112-17]

Jeff Whisenant had been married to Richard Montgomery's sister Carla. Montgomery lived with them in a trailer park on Royal Road for four to six months in 1995 and 1996. [V27 950-53, 956] Montgomery liked to party -- to drink beer and have a good time with his buddies. He used alcohol regularly. [V27 952] He also used drugs. Whisenant helped Montgomery get a couple of jobs, but he had difficulty holding a steady job. He did not have a car, so he either walked or got rides from Whisenant or Carla. Sometimes Montgomery stayed with his mother.

[V27 953] He stayed with a friend, Bobby Whittaker, for about two weeks. [V27 953, 957] Montgomery complained that Whittaker watched him in the shower and asked him to have oral sex, so Whisenant told him to come home. [V27 958, 961] Around 4:30 p.m. or later on Tuesday, April 16, 1996, Whisenant was returning home from work with Ray when he saw Montgomery walking towards Cox Lumber at the corner of Royal Road and Taylor Road. Ray honked the horn. Montgomery waived his hand and kept walking. [V27 954-55, 967-68]

Gary Maston met Richard Montgomery at Bobby Whittaker's trailer about two weeks before he was killed. [V27 969-71] On Tuesday, April 16, 1996, Maston saw Montgomery at Whittaker's trailer between one and four in the afternoon. Montgomery said he was going out to make some money and would return in about half an hour. Whittaker asked if it was legal. Montgomery responded that if it wasn't legal he would tell him, then smiled. [V27 971-75, 977-78, 980] Montgomery might have been under the influence of alcohol, but he walked fine. [V27 979]

Robert Whittaker met Richard Montgomery about six months before he was killed. Montgomery lived with him for about a month and a half. In April, 1996, Montgomery was living with his sister at the front of the trailer park. [V27 981-83] Montgomery was outgoing and caring, but mentally slow. He could not keep a job for very long. Montgomery drank on a daily basis if he could get alcohol from someone. He did not own a car. [V27 983-85] Whittaker met Daniel Conahan through a

friend named Jeff Dingman about two years before he met Montgomery. Conahan came to Whittaker's trailer to see Dingman about three times. Conahan came to the trailer to see Montgomery one time while Montgomery was living with Whittaker, about two and a half to three months before he was killed. Conahan said Carla told him he was there. [V27 985-88, 991-93] Whittaker saw Montgomery at his trailer while Maston was there around 7:00 to 8:00 p.m. on April 16, 1996. Montgomery said he was going to go make some money, about \$200, and he would be back in two hours. Whittaker asked if it was legal. Montgomery smiled and said he would be safe. He never returned. [V27 988-90] In a statement to the police on April 18, 1996, Whittaker said Montgomery left at 6:30 p.m. on April 16. [V27 1007]

Business records from the Wal-Mart store on U.S. Highway 41 in Punta Gorda showed a purchase at 6:07 p.m. on April 16, 1996, of a package of clothesline, Polaroid film, pliers, and a utility knife for a total of \$31.08 using credit card number 4428-1350-1436-8591. [V28 1017-25] City Bank Choice Visa records showed that this purchase was made on Daniel O. Conahan's account. [V28 1040-44] Law enforcement officers used the UPC codes from the receipt to purchase samples of the same merchandise. [V28 1025-27] Another receipt showed that Daniel O. Conahan made a \$10.56 credit card purchase at the same store at 3:41 p.m. on August 15, 1994. [V28 1027-32]

Nations Bank records showed a \$40.00 ATM cash withdrawal from Daniel O. Conahan's account on April 16, 1996, at the bank located at 100 Madrid Boulevard, Punta Gorda. [V28 1046-50] The bank was on the corner of Madrid and 41 by Juicy Lucy and a Mobil station. The Wal-Mart store was nearby, just north of the bank. [V28 1057-58] Still photographs taken from the ATM video surveillance film showed Conahan making the withdrawal at 6:12 p.m. on April 16, 1996. [V28 1058-66, 1069, 1082-83]

Bank records also showed a May 6, 1996, payment of \$105.00 to Conahan's City Bank Choice Visa account by a check drawn on Conahan's Nations Bank checking account. [V28 1043, 1051-52] Nations Bank records also showed a check for \$20.00 paid to Bank One Visa account number 4332-1691-4012-6966 from Conahan's account in 1994, and a check for \$30.00 to the same Bank One Visa account between 8/22/94 and 9/23/94. [V28 1053-55] Bank One Visa records for Daniel Conahan's account, which had the same number, showed a \$10.56 purchase at Wal-Mart on August 15, 1994, and a payment on the account on September 8, 1994. [V29 1235-39]

Florida State Prison inmate John Newman, who was serving sentences for manslaughter and marijuana at the time of trial, met Daniel Conahan while sharing a cell in the Lee County Jail for seven or eight months.

[V28 1072-73] Conahan was being held on kidnapping and sexual battery charges from a Fort Myers case. He kept most of his discovery and

other papers concerning his case in the cell. [V28 1076-77] Newman had been indicted for first-degree murder. [V28 1077] He negotiated a deal for a 12 year sentence to run concurrently with a previously imposed 10 year sentence in exchange for his testimony against Conahan. [V28 1074-75, 1077-79] Newman testified that Conahan originally said he did not know Richard Montgomery. Later, Conahan said he did know Montgomery, that they went on a few beer runs. [V28 1073] He said he had been to Montgomery's house on several occasions and knew his sister. He said he and Montgomery went to the bank. He said, "Montgomery was a mistake." [V28 1074]

Harold Linde met Conahan in a bar in Chicago. They had a gay relationship and lived together in Chicago from 1988 through 1992. [V28 1084-86] Conahan told Linde about a sexual fantasy -- that he would "like to pick up a boy hitchhiking, go in the woods, tie him to a tree and fuck him." [V28 1086-87] Linde accused the prosecution of making a big thing out of nothing; he did not believe Conahan was guilty. [V28 1088] Conahan never asked Linde to go out in the woods to tie him up and have sex, and never told him he had done this with someone else. [V28 1089-90] Conahan mentioned the fantasy only one time. [V28 1090-91] Their relationship did not involve any type of bondage. Each of them went their separate ways and dated other people. [V28 1090] Conahan did not discuss any other sexual fantasies. [V28

1091] Linde was still in love with Conahan at the time of trial. [V28 1092]

On the evening of August 15, 1994, Suzanne Hartwig, an emergency department technician at Lee Memorial Hospital, examined and treated Stanley Burden. Burden had two abrasions around the neck, scrapes on his back and chest, and abrasions around his wrists and ankles. [V29 1133-37] Burden said he was assaulted by a man named Dan, who tried to kill and rape him. [V29 1141] Fort Myers Police Detective Pedro Soto met with Burden at the hospital that evening. Burden had a raw, bloody ligature mark on his neck. Burden gave Soto a small pair of redhandled pliers. Soto felt that Burden did not tell him the whole story of what had happened. They attempted to find the place where it happened, but they were unable to find it in the dark. [V28 1119-28]

At the time of trial, Stanley Burden was serving prison sentences for two felony convictions in Ohio. He was born on March 18, 1970, was five feet ten inches tall, weighed around 140 to 145 pounds, had blond hair and blue eyes, not much body hair, a light mustache, a flat abdomen, and a tan complexion. In 1994, he was an unemployed high school drop-out who had difficulty keeping a steady job. He occasionally used alcohol. As a juvenile he had been arrested for riding a moped without a license. He was raised by his grandmother in Ohio. He was bisexual. In 1994, he broke a bone in his foot while working, had

to wear an orthopedic shoe, and was unable to work except for a "sit-down type job." [V29 1145-54]

On August 15, 1994, Burden met Daniel Conahan while leaving a restroom at Lions Park in Fort Myers. Later, Burden walked to a street corner by a hamburger restaurant and encountered Conahan in a lightcolored Plymouth or Dodge station wagon with a red and green interior and dark-tinted windows. [V29 1154-55, 1189-96] Burden accepted Conahan's invitation to get in the car. Burden also accepted Conahan's offer to pay him \$100.00 to \$150.00 to pose for nude photographs. [V29] 1155-57, 1195-96] Conahan drove past a trucking company to a rocky dirt road at the end of Edison Street. He stopped and offered to pay \$20.00 for allowing him to perform oral sex on Burden. When Burden agreed, Conahan parked by a pile of rubbish. They got out in a secluded grassy area with melaleuca trees. [V29 1157-59, 1195, 1198-99] Conahan took out a duffle bag containing a tarp and camera. They went 15 to 30 feet into the woods. Conahan spread the tarp on the ground and told Burden to remove his shirt and "show a little bit of hip. " Conahan took Polaroid photos while directing Burden to pose. Burden took his pants down to his knees. [V29 1160-61, 1199]

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