IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL O. CONAHAN, JR.

Appellant,

vs. 170 CASE NO. SC00-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813)873-4739
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In the instant case, first of all, there was no blatant disregard of an earlier court ruling. In March of 1999 appellant filed a pretrial motion in limine urging in Paragraph 1 that the state introduce only relevant and material evidence relating to testimony of an alleged sexual contact between defendant and Stanley Burden (Vol. 10, R1935). The court denied the motion in limine subject to a proffer during trial in an order dated April 7, 1999 by Judge Cynthia Ellis (Vol. 10, R1971-72).

At the beginning of the bench trial on August 9, 1999 after a discussion on other matters, Judge Blackwell indicated he could not try the case piecemeal but since appellant had waived jury trial the defense could bring these things up rather freely

⁷This Court has noted that relief is unavailable where the prosecutor's arguments are less severe than those present in <u>Gore</u>. See <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1070, n. 14 (Fla. 2000)(rejecting claim of ineffective appellate counsel for failure to argue alleged improper prosecutorial argument referring to defense counsel's "gall" and "nerve").

(Vol. 25, R714). Subsequently the court permitted testimony about the Burden incident including testimony by Detective Soto (Vol. 28, R1119-28), Suzanne Hartwig and Stanley Burden (Vol. 29, R1133-45, R1145-1221). See also ruling on Williams- rule evidence of Burden (Vol. 34, R1843; Vol. 13, R2496-99). After Judge Blackwell determined that appellant was guilty of first degree murder and kidnapping, the parties convened again on November 1, 1999 to select a jury for penalty phase (Vol. 37, R2169-2295). While the prosecutor was making his opening statement, the defense complained that the prosecutor had not approached the bench for permission to discuss unruled upon matters in the Motion in Limine (R2304).

Quite unlike <u>Gore</u> where the prosecutor blatantly disregarded a specific pre-trial ruling concerning extremely prejudicial information, here the prosecutor had every reason to believe that testimony by and about the victim in the Burden incident would be admissible as it had been allowed following the trial court's admission of it in the guilt phase. There was no specific prior adverse ruling.⁸

BThe trial court certainly did not react as if there had been a blatant disregard of an earlier ruling (R2305), and in fact there was not. At a hearing prior to the penalty phase proceeding the trial court reserved ruling on Williams-Rule evidence "by requiring the state before it makes an offer or asks a question that would elicit Williams Rule testimony to approach the bench with defense counsel and let us argue at that point the admissibility of the proffered Williams-Rule evidence." (Vol. 36, R2159)(emphasis supplied). The trial court

Secondly, after the opening statement by both sides, the trial court indicated a concern about the Burden testimony - that the court was not ruling it in or out - and wanted to have a discussion about it outside the jury's presence before the prosecutor went into it (Vol. 37, R2336). Thereafter, pursuant to the court's instructions, the prosecutor approached the bench and after a discussion the court determined that the prejudice outweighed the probative value in the penalty phase context (R2349-51). The prosecutor complied with the trial court's ruling, unlike in Gore. The defense sought no additional relief.

Finally, the trial court instructed the jury and informed them they must make a decision based upon the testimony of the witnesses, the exhibits and the instructions (Vol. 39, R2634-2636). Thus, even if there had been error, the court cured it.

IV. The Closing Argument

Conahan complains about the following seven excerpts of the prosecutor's argument, most of which were not objected to:

(1) And remember from the very beginning, the State told you, I told you, that it was not our intention to produce all the evidence that we have and, in fact, we are prohibited by law at this point in presenting all of the evidence being on the matter of guilt of the Defendant.

(Vol. 39, R2580)

did not state nor intend to so limit opening statements.

The prosecutor was obviously referring to his opening statement (which like this comment in argument was unobjected to) where he informed the jury that appellant had already been convicted of premeditated first degree murder and kidnapping of Richard Montgomery, that this case "comes to you in a very unique way" because the guilt phase had already been completed - the defendant had already been found guilty and "you will not concern yourself with the question of his guilt" (Vol. 37, R2298-99). The trial court had similarly informed the jury both during the voir dire selection process and prior to their hearing evidence that the guilt of the defendant had already been determined and that they were not to concern themselves with that (Vol. 37, R2179, R2294-95).

(2) Now, the Court told you right at the beginning that the Defendant had been, in fact, convicted of First-degree Murder and Kidnapping. But it may be difficult since you're not permitted to see all of the evidence and see the entire picture to understand how the kidnapping bears on this particular murder.

(Vol. 39, R2586)

This too was unaccompanied by any defense objection.

(3) This weighing process that we have at this phase of the trial is weighing the aggravating factors against mitigating circumstances, so I'm going to first talk briefly about the mitigating circumstances.

The reason I'm going to do that is because I'm going to encourage you to disregard those right up front. I'm going to ask you to disregard the mitigation that

you heard.

(Vol. 39, R2580-

81)

There was no defense objection.

(4) Clearly, early in his life, he was capable of and did do some good and commendable things. And yet, he makes this choice to do evil later in his life so hard to understand. He wasn't abused. He wasn't mistreated. There was no evidence of mental difficulties or substance abuse or drug abuse. No financial - -

(Vol. 39, R2582)

The defense objected that it was improper for the prosecutor to argue mitigating factors that were not proven and the court overruled the objection noting the prosecutor could argue "all the evidence" (R2582).

(5) The laws of the State of Florida provide that when certain aggravating circumstances characterize a particular murder and people are to be fairly and justly held accountable to their actions, only the highest form of punishment, the death penalty, will truly produce a sense of justice when these aggravating circumstances are present.

(Vol. 39, R2585)

There was no defense objection.

(6) I'll close with this: Mercy for a Defendant means nothing if we do not also honor justice for the victim. The statutory scheme in Florida attempts to strike a balance between the equally important values in our society of mercy to a defendant and justice to a victim.

It attempts - -

(Vol. 39, R2603)

A bench conference followed. When the defense complained that this was an improper appeal to sympathies the prosecutor explained to the court:

Where I'm going with this is the fact that the death penalty should not be applied in every case, nor should life in prison in every case, but rather in those cases where following the law the aggravating outweighs the mitigating. That's where I'm going with this. I think that's fair comment on the law.

(Vol. 39, R2604)

The court overruled the defense objection and denied a mistrial request (R2605).

(7) The scales of justice in this country are kept in balance by the weight of fairness. By the weight of fairness. And fairness and justice in this case requires the highest penalty that the law would allow.

(Vol. 39, R2606)

There was no defense objection.

A. Procedural Bar

The excerpts quoted in (1), (2), (3), (5) and (7), supra, as indicated were not preserved by objection below and thus are procedurally barred. See, e.g. Rogers v. State, ____ So. 2d ____, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S115 (Fla. 2001); Mordenti_v. State, 630 So. 2d 1080, 1084 (Fla. 1994); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990);

Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 195 (Fla. 1997); Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 22 (Fla. 2000); Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999) ("Our appellate cases are filled with examples of errors that are unpreserved either because no objection was made or because the objection was not specific. If the error is 'invited' or the defendant 'opens the door', the appellate court will not consider the error a basis for reversal").

Since the excerpts in (1), (2), (3), (5) and (7), supra, were not preserved for appellate review, Conahan can prevail only upon a showing that they (or any one of them) constitute fundamental error. McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999) ("Fundamental error is defined as the type of error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error"); Mordenti, supra at 1084 ("For an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process", quoting from State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1993)); Ashford v. State, 274 So. 2d 517, 518 (Fla. 1973) ("The appellate court should exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very guardedly" quoting from Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So. 2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970); Hopkins v. State, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Fla. 1994). Moreover, to constitute fundamental error, improper comments made in the closing arguments of a penalty phase must be so prejudicial as to taint the jury's recommended sentence. Thomas v. State, 748 So. 2d 970, 985, n. 10 (Fla. 1999); Wyatt v. State, 641 So. 2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994).

In McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1999) this Court determined that several unobjected to statements by the prosecutor in the penalty phase closing argument did not rise to the level of fundamental error requiring the setting aside of the penalty phase proceeding. The statements challenged on appeal included asserted improper appeals to the emotions and fears of the jury to send a message to foreign citizens "not versed in the 'American' way of life," asserted "golden rule" comments forcing the jury to place themselves in the shoes of the victim. Id. at 504. Although this Court concluded the prosecutor's embellishment was without factual support in the record and thus an improper appeal to the emotions of the jurors and some comments came close to a golden rule violation, since they came during a discussion of the applicability of the HAC aggravator and thus appeared more to be a description of the heinousness of the crime, the Court merely admonished counsel to refrain from making argument asking the jury to consider what the victim must have felt. Id. at 505, n. 9. The Court added that the defense argument about the "American way of life" was meritless. Id. at n. 10.

No fundamental error is present in the prosecutor's closing argument. As to excerpts (1) and (2), supra, appellee would submit that this Court has recognized that in the resentencing context:

One of the problems inherent in holding a resentencing proceeding is that the jury is required to render an advisory sentence of life or death without the benefit of having heard and seen all of the evidence presented during the guilt determination phase. This problem manifested itself sub judice when one of the jurors, during voir dire, expressed concern to the court about his ability to decide a proper advisory sentence without having heard all of the evidence of appellant's guilt.

Teffeteller v. State, 495 So. 2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1986). The Teffeteller Court then explained the reason for rejecting the defense argument that the admission of a photograph of the victim into evidence was improper as it did not prove an aggravating circumstance:

The issue, however, is broader than that framed by appellant. Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (1985), provides in pertinent part that in capital sentencing proceedings, "evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to the nature of the crime." We find that the photograph in question here clearly comes within the purview of the statute. We hold that it is within the sound discretion of the trial court during resentencing proceedings to allow the jury to hear or see

probative evidence which will aid it in understanding the facts of the case in order that it may render an appropriate advisory sentence. We cannot expect jurors empaneled for capital sentencing proceedings to make wise and reasonable decisions in a vacuum. (emphasis supplied)

Id. at 745.

Accord, Valle v. State, 581 So. 2d 40, 45 (Fla. 1991); Way v. State, 760 So. 2d 903, 917 (Fla. 2000); Bonifay v. State, 680 So. 2d 413, 419 (Fla. 1996); Wike v. State, 698 So. 2d 817, 821 (Fla. 1997) (noting importance of familiarizing jury with the facts).

While the instant case is not a resentencing proceeding, the problem presented is identical where, as here, the initial jury selected only participated in the penalty phase and had not been exposed to the facts and circumstances of the crime in the guilt phase (because appellant chose a bench trial for guilt phase but a jury for penalty phase). Indeed, the instant record reflects the same frustration as in Teffeteller when at voir dire several prospective jurors expressed the view that it would be difficult or impossible to determine penalty since they had not participated in the guilt phase (Vol. 37, R2223, 2225, 2227, 2231, 2233, 2241, 2244, 2246, 2247, 2249, 2252, 2256, 2259, 2266-67, 2274, 2276).

In short - while it is certainly true in a different context when a jury is being asked initially to determine guilt or

innocence that it is improper for a prosecutor to urge conviction based on extra-record matters not presented at trial - there is no fundamental error in the instant situation (and appellee would submit no error at all) where the prosecutor is merely repeating the axiom that the court and jurors repeatedly had acknowledged more unfamiliarity with the case since they had not sat originally in the guilt phase. See <u>Teffeteller</u>, supra.

As to excerpt (3), supra, there is no fundamental error in the prosecutor's suggesting the jury disregard the mitigation they have heard because as the context makes clear he was suggesting only a momentary setting aside, that the only local person to see him recently (Betty Wilson) testified that he had a loving family and seemed to have the benefit of everything (R2581-82), that the jury should first consider whether one or more aggravating circumstances were established and then in turn consider any evidence tending to establish mitigating circumstances and give that evidence such weight as you feel it should receive in reaching your conclusion as to the sentence that should be imposed (R2583)(emphasis supplied). The prosecutor then clarified his earlier remark: "Ladies and gentlemen, I encourage you to do just that. Give the weight that you feel it should receive. I suggest it should receive none." (R2583).

The state may properly argue that the defense has failed to

establish a mitigating death penalty factor and that the jury should not be swayed by sympathy. <u>Valle v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 40, 47 (Fla. 1991). That is what the prosecutor did here.

As to excerpt (5), supra, there is no fundamental error. Appellant chooses to interpret the remark as the prosecutor suggesting the jury was required or compelled to recommend death because of the aggravators present citing **Brooks v. State**, 762 So. 2d 879, 902 (Fla. 2000). But the prosecutor's statement does not tell the jury they were required or compelled to recommend death; rather, he argued the presence of these three strong aggravators "should be your starting point as you look at the evidence" (R2585) and as he had stated earlier the jury should give the mitigating evidence "the weight that you feel it should receive" (R2583). When the prosecutor's comments are reviewed in context it is clear the Brooks error is not present (and helps explain why trial counsel did not object). Conahan's attempt on appeal to parse each statement and to consider each in isolation should result in a rejection of his fundamental error claim. A prosecutor's argument should be examined in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 1182, 1189 (Fla. 1997); Craiq v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 865 (Fla. 1987).

In excerpt (7), supra, there is no fundamental error, only a permissible argument that under the facts of this case fairness and justice call for the imposition of death. There is

no violation of <u>Brooks</u>. The prosecutor properly acted within his role as an advocate in explaining that death was the appropriate sanction.

B. <u>The Comments Preserved for Appellate Review by</u> Appropriate Objection.

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